## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- ISSUE NO. 1:**      **WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY DENYING A REQUESTED HEAT OF PASSION MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION?**
- ISSUE NO. 2:**      **WHETHER THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE MANSLAUGHTER AND DEPRAVED HEART MURDER WERE CONFUSING TO THE JURY OR IMPROPERLY STATED THE LAW?**
- ISSUE NO. 3:**      **WHETHER THE VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MURDER, AS OPPOSED TO MANSLAUGHTER, IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE?**
- ISSUE NO. 4:**      **WHETHER THE COURT ALLOWED IMPROPER OPINION EVIDENCE?**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal proceeds a judgment of conviction for the crime of murder against Mary Cooper and the resulting life sentence out of the Circuit Court of Winston County, Mississippi, following a trial held October 24-25, 2006, Honorable C. E. Morgan, III, Circuit Judge, presiding. Mary Cooper is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

## **FACTS**

When Derrick Edwards, a/k/a "Smoke D", was shot and killed in the early afternoon of September 5, 2004 at 613 Selma Avenue in Louisville MS, the large caliber



projectile split the top of his skull wide open. [T. 110, 193; R. Ex. 34]. The trial testimony revealed three different versions of what transpired to precipitate the tragedy.

According to Vincent Hudson, Vincent and Mary Cooper had an ongoing romantic relationship.[T. 116] According to Vincent, on the morning of the shooting, he and Derrick and Joe Mack Speights went to Mary's house trailer. [T. 116-18] Derrick was driving and stayed outside in Vincent's sister's Ford Explorer, while Vincent and Joe Mack went inside. Id. Vincent and Mary argued; and, Vincent pushed Mary and then choked her. [T. 130-31] Vincent and Joe Mack then went to leave; as Vincent got in the front passenger side of the Explorer, there were six gunshots and Derrick, who was sitting in the driver's seat, was hit with one round. [T. 119-20] Vincent said he never saw who was doing the shooting. [T. 132]

Lee Hardy, Mary's niece, testified that she was visiting her aunt Mary, who she called "Aunt Cat", over the Labor Day weekend. [T. 146-50] Lee remembered Vincent and Joe Mack came over to Mary's house while Derrick stayed outside in the Explorer; Joe Mack and Vincent were drinking and doing drugs. [ Id. and T. 156] There was an argument between Vincent and Mary and they tussled. [T. 149-50] Contrary to what Vincent said, however, according to Lee, as Vincent was leaving, Vincent shot at Mary, and Mary returned fire, hitting Derrick. [T. 150-52].

Joe Mack Speights also testified that he saw Mary shooting from the porch. [T. 70] However, Joe Mack said it was apparent to him that Mary did not intend to hurt

anyone. Id.

According to Mary, who testified at trial, there was no argument; Vincent, Joe Mack & Derrick came to her house drunk, the three shot intravenous drugs; and, Mary concluded that Vincent and Joe Mack killed Derrick, because, Derrick had been gambling and won a substantial amount of money. [T. 203-10]

Mary put on evidence from their mutual friend Ethyl Jackson that Derrick, Vincent and Joe Mack had been gambling extensively the day prior to the shooting and that Derrick had won a considerable amount of money. [T. 192-94] Ethyl said she overheard Vincent and Joe Mack saying they wanted to rob Derrick of his gambling profits. Id.

There was even testimony that Mary gave the gun to Lee, who gave it to her mother who was blind who threw it in the yard. [T. 157] The weapon was retrieved by Lonnie Ingram, Lee's father, at the insistence of Joe Mack. [T. 165] Lonnie buried the weapon; but, later showed officers where it was. [T. 163, 168] It was suggested that Vincent had tried to run Lonnie off when Lonnie was taking investigating officers to where the gun was buried.. [T. 166. 171-72]

Investigator Greg Clark with the Louisville Police Department who was not qualified as an expert, testified that he took measurements and used a laser beam and colored dowels to conclude that the shooter was standing on the porch of Mary's trailer. [T.95-100 R. Ex 8, 9, 11, 12 ] The jury was shown photographs of the Explorer with colored dowels indicating what Clark said were the paths of the projectiles. Id

Both Mary and Vincent were tested for gun shot residue about seven (7) hours after the shooting. [T. 133, 139-46]. Mary was negative; but, Vincent was positive for gun-shot residue on his left hand, which suggested at least that he was in the environment of a fired weapon within 2-3 feet. Id.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The jury heard improper opinion evidence. The jury instructions improperly stated the law and were confusing and the jury should have been instructed on heat of passion manslaughter. At worst, Mary Cooper's conviction should have been for manslaughter, not murder.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY DENYING A REQUESTED HEAT OF PASSION MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION?**

Mary's trial counsel asked for a heat of passion manslaughter instruction under MCA §97-3-35 (1972), in the record as refused instructions D-5 and D-6. [T. 231-32; R. 155-56; R.E. 18-19] Even though all of the state witnesses agreed that there was an argument between Vincent and Mary [T. 68, 84, 117, 149-50 ], and even though Vincent admitted hitting and choking Mary [T. 130-31], and even though Lee testified that there was tussling during the argument and that Vincent ultimately shot at Mary, which was arguably confirmed by the gun-shot residue tests, [T. 150-52 ] and that Mary was crying

[T. 152 ], the trial court concluded that there was insufficient provocation *from Derrick the ultimate victim* to justify a heat of passion manslaughter instruction. [T. 231-32]

The trial court concluded that the doctrine of “transferred intent” applied in this case. See Dykes v. State, 232 Miss. 379, 99 So.2d 602, 605 (MS 1957).

Nevertheless, as will be shown below, the appellant’s position is that it was error for the trial court to conclude that the doctrine of “transferred intent” did not apply to “heat of passion” manslaughter in this case since any provocation did not come from the resulting victim.

This Court has defined “heat of passion” as:

... a state of violent and uncontrollable rage engendered by a blow or certain other provocation given, which will reduce a homicide from the grade of murder to that of manslaughter. Passion or anger suddenly aroused at the time by some immediate and reasonable provocation, by words or acts of one at the time. The term includes an emotional state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror. Mullins v. State, 493 So. 2d 971, 974 (MS 1986).

In this case, it is reasonable to conclude that, but for Vincent’s conduct provoking Mary to shoot, Derrick would not have been killed. Stated another way, there is a direct proximate causal connection between Vincent’s provocation of Mary and the death of Derrick. The jury in this case, however, never had the opportunity to deliberate whether this provocation reduced the offense from murder to manslaughter.

A person may form an intent to kill from a sudden passion induced by insult, provocation or injury from another. In that moment of passion,

while still enraged, if he slays the other person , the homicide may be manslaughter, even though it is not in necessary self-defense, depending upon the insult, provocation or injury causing the anger. Ordinarily, whether such a slaying is indeed murder or manslaughter is a question for the jury. Windham v. State, 520 So. 2d 123, 127 (MS 1988).

Moreover, “if there is any evidence which would support a conviction of manslaughter, an instruction on manslaughter should be given.” Graham v. State, 582 So.2d 1014, 1018 (MS 1991). In Roberts v. State, 458 So.2d 719, 720 (Miss.1984), the Court said that the defendant's statement “I didn't mean to do it baby, my baby” was a sufficient basis for a heat of passion manslaughter instruction. The law of what is manslaughter in Mississippi has been consistently characterized as “liberal” and the courts have made “considerable allowance for the frailties of human passion.” Windham v. State, supra, 520 So.2d at p. 127.

It should not be overlooked that “it is possible for a deliberate design to exist and the slaying nevertheless be no greater than manslaughter.” Williams v. State, 729 So. 2d 1181,1186 (MS 1998). In Williams v State where the defendant had joined with several other defendants in the beating death of the victim for no apparent reason and Williams was convicted of murder, the Supreme Court reversed on grant of certiorari because the trial court failed when requested to instruct the jury on differentiating between malice aforethought and deliberate design, and because Williams’ murder conviction resulted in a miscarriage of justice. Id.

The Williams court pointed out that a heat of passion manslaughter instruction was

required there because the record, as here, contained sufficient evidence from which “the jury could infer that Williams acted on impulse or in the heat of the moment.” See also Wells v. State, 305 So. 2d 333 (MS 1975) and Clemens v. State, 473 So. 2d 943 (MS 1985).

The test to determine whether a lesser included instruction is required has been stated as follows:

[A] lesser included offense instruction should be granted unless the trial judge -- and ultimately this Court -- can say, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused, and considering all reasonable favorable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the accused from the evidence, that no reasonable jury could find the defendant guilty of the lesser included offense (and conversely not guilty of at least one essential element of the principal charge). Graham v. State, 582 So. 2d 1014, 1017 (MS 1991) citing Gates v. State, 484 So. 2d 1002, 1004 (MS 1986).

According to the authorities outlined above, there was a jury question here as to whether the homicide in this case was premeditated or committed by depraved heart, culpable negligence or in the heat of passion. Applying the above law to the testimony and evidence in this case, Mary Cooper was indeed entitled to a heat of passion manslaughter instruction as a matter of law, and failure to do so was reversible error. Windham 520 So. 2d at 127.

By no stretch of the imagination, even the state would probably stipulate that if the victim in this case was Vincent, then Mary would clearly have been entitled to a “heat of passion” manslaughter instruction. Does the law then preclude the same conclusion as to

the unintended victim in this case, Derrick?

Mississippi does not have a reported case which the undersigned counsel could located exactly on this key issue. According to 40 C. J. S. Homicide §41 Transferred Intent, “[t]he grade of the crime in cases of transferred intent will be the same as though the accused had killed the person whom he or she had intended to kill.”

From 2 Wharton’s Criminal Law § 146 (15th ed.) Charles E. Torcia, Part II.

Offenses Against the Person Chapter 8. Murder:

§ 146. Transferred intent

Under the common-law doctrine of transferred intent, a defendant, who intends to kill one person but instead kills a bystander, is deemed the author of whatever kind of homicide would have been committed had he killed the intended victim.

If, as to the intended victim, the homicide would have constituted murder, the defendant is guilty of murder as to the bystander who was the actual victim. **Similarly, if the homicide would have constituted voluntary manslaughter as to the intended victim, the defendant is guilty of voluntary manslaughter as to the bystander who was the actual victim;** and if the homicide, as to the intended victim, would have been justifiable, as in self-defense, the defendant is deemed the author of a justifiable homicide as to the bystander, at least in the absence of criminal negligence. [emphasis added]

In State v. Moffitt, 431 P. 2d 879, 895 (KS 1967) overruled on other grounds State v. Underwood, 228 Kan. 294, 615 P.2d 153 (1980) where the defendant shot at one person and hit an innocent bystander, the court said:

The fact that the homicidal act was directed against one other than the person killed does not relieve the slayer of criminal responsibility. **It is generally held that such a homicide partakes of the quality of the**

**original act, so that the guilt of the perpetrator of the crime is exactly what it would have been had the assault followed upon the intended victim instead of another.** (1 Wharton's Criminal Law and Procedure, Homicide, s 193, p. 438), [emphasis added].

This approach is widely accepted. "If a person, shooting at another, kills a third person, his guilt is the same as if he had killed the person for whom the shot was intended." [cite omitted], Harris v. State, 239 So.2d 331 (AL 1970). Moreover, the doctrine has been an accepted rule for considerable time. In State v. Dalton, 101 S. E. 548, 549 (NC 1919), the court said:

In cases of this character, it is the generally accepted principle that, where one man, engaged in an affray or difficulty with another unintentionally kills a bystander, his act shall be interpreted in reference to his intent and conduct towards his adversary, and criminal liability for the homicide or otherwise and the degree of it must be thereby determined. A very correct statement of the general principle is given in 13 R. C. L. tit. Homicide, § 50, pp. 745, 746, as follows:

The fact that the homicidal act was intended to compass the death of another person does not in any measure relieve the slayer of criminal responsibility. He is guilty or innocent exactly as though the fatal act had caused the death of the person intended to be killed. The intent is transferred to the person whose death has been caused. The result is that the slayer has been held guilty of murder or manslaughter or excusable homicide, according to the attendant circumstances. If the killing of the person intended to be hit would, under all the circumstances, have been excusable or justifiable on the theory of self-defense, then the unintended killing of a bystander by a random shot fired in the proper and prudent exercise of such self-defense is also excusable or justifiable. And if the killing of the intended victim would have been reduced by the circumstances to murder in the second or third



degree, or to manslaughter in any of the degrees, then the unintended and accidental killing of the bystander resulting from any act designed to take effect upon the intended victim would be likewise reduced to the same grade of offense as would have followed the death of the victim intended to be killed.

Citing State v. Moffitt, *supra*, the court in State v. Walker, 20 P.3d 1269, 1276 (Kan. App. 2001) said:

In State v. Stringfield, 4 Kan. App.2d 559, 561, 608 P.2d 1041, rev. denied 228 Kan. 807 (1980), the court applied the transferred intent doctrine to aggravated battery. The court held that while a specific intent to injure was a necessary element of aggravated battery, under the doctrine of transferred intent, the intent to injure could be transferred to the harm to a bystander who was unintentionally injured. The Stringfield court noted:

“ ‘Under this rule, the fact that the bystander was killed instead of the victim becomes immaterial, and the only question at issue is what would have been the degree of guilt if the result intended had been accomplished. The intent is transferred to the person whose death has been caused, or as sometimes expressed, the malice or intent follows the bullet.’ 40 Am. Jur.2d, Homicide § 11, pp. 302-303” 4 Kan. App.2d at 561, 608 P.2d 1041.

In State v. Garza, 259 Kan. 826, 916 P.2d 9 (1996), the court addressed the transferred intent doctrine in a shootout situation where another shooter's bullet, not the defendant's bullet, caused a bystander's death. The court held the defendant's act caused no injury and the doctrine did not apply, but the court later discussed the defendant's liability as an aider and abettor. 259 Kan. at 828-30, 916 P.2d 9. In discussing transferred intent, the court stated:

"Under the doctrine of transferred intent, the fact that a reckless act was directed against one other than the person injured does not relieve the actor of criminal responsibility. It is generally held that such an act partakes of the quality of the original act, so that the guilt of the perpetrator of the crime is exactly what it would have been had the act been directed at the intended victim instead of another." 259 Kan. at 829, 916 P.2d 9.

The Missouri Supreme Court said in State v. Mannon, 663 S.W.2d 780, 782(Mo. App.,1983):

The fact that Mannon intended to shoot someone else and shot Ricky Brooks instead, thinking he was some other person, is of no legal comfort to the defendant here. Mannon's guilt in killing Brooks is measured, and the degree of homicide determined, by what defendant's crime would have been had he shot and killed his intended victim. In cases like this, the intention follows the bullet. State v. Eiland, 534 S.W.2d 814, 817 (Mo. App.1976).

Not only does the degree of the crime remain intact through the “transfer”, all defenses travel the same route:

For some purposes, where a bystander is an unintended victim of an assault directed at another, the actual victim is deemed to stand in the shoes of the intended victim. The defendant's intent toward the target is transferred to the bystander for the purpose of fixing the grade of the offense.[cites omitted]. If the assault upon the bystander was committed in self-defense against an attack by the intended victim, self-defense furnishes a defense against a charge of assault upon the bystander. [cites omitted]

State v. Arellano, 736 S.W.2d 432, 434(Mo. App.1987).

The Florida Supreme Court said in Brown v. State, 84 Fla. 660, 94 So. 874, 874 (1922):

[i]f the killing of the party intended to be killed would, under all the circumstances, have been excusable or justifiable homicide upon the theory of self-defense, then the unintended killing of a bystander, by a random shot fired in the proper and prudent exercise of such self-defense, is also excusable or justifiable.”

See also Nelson v. State, 853 So.2d 563,565 (Fla. App. 2003), Foreman v. State, 47

So.2d 308 (Fla.1950); V. M. v. State, 766 So.2d 280 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000)

There is no sound reasoning to suggest that Mississippi should treat the doctrine of transferred intent any differently. Namely, the crime that would have been charged if the intended victim should be applied to the actual victim. That being the legally sound conclusion, it follows, necessarily that Mary Cooper should have been allowed a heat of passion manslaughter instruction, and failure to do so was reversible error. Accordingly, a new trial is respectfully requested.

Alternatively, and under the same authority the argument could be made that jury instruction S-4 was incomplete because it did not explain transferred intent was applicable to culpable negligence manslaughter.

**ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE MANSLAUGHTER AND DEPRAVED HEART MURDER WERE CONFUSING TO THE JURY OR IMPROPERLY STATED THE LAW?**

The jury in this case was instructed on culpable negligence manslaughter (MCA § 97-3-47 (1972)), deliberate design murder and depraved heart murder (MCA § 97-3-19(1)(a)&(b) (1972)). [T. 226-30; R. 146-49]<sup>1</sup>. However, the several instructions given

---

1

S-1 The Court instructs the jury that murder is the killing of a human being, not in necessary self-defense, and without the authority of law, by any means or by any manner, when done with the premeditated and deliberate design to effect the death of the person killed OR when done in the commission of an act eminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of human life, although without any premeditated design to effect the death of any particular individual.

The Court further instruct you that if you believe from the evidence in this case, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Mary Cooper, on or about September 5, 2004, in Winston County, Mississippi, killed Derrick Edwards, a human being, without authority of law, not in necessary self defense, AND

did not properly state the law; they conflicted and were ultimately confusing to the jury; because, none of the instructions explained the differences between the three prosecutorial theories, or degrees of culpability. The end result was that the jury verdict which convicted Mary Cooper of murder was not the product of fundamental due process of law guaranteed by the 5th, 6th and 14th Amendments to the U. S. Constitution and Art. 3 §14 of the Constitution of the State of Mississippi.

From the instructions in this case, there is no distinguishable difference between

---

(1) With the deliberate design to effect the death of Derrick Edwards, OR

(2) while engaged in the commission of an act eminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of the value of human life, although without any premeditated design to effect the death of Derrick Edwards, then the defendant Mary Cooper, is guilty of murder, and it is your sworn duty to so find.

If the State has failed to prove any one or more of the above elements beyond a reasonable doubt, then you shall find the defendant not guilty of murder. [R. 146; RE 14]

S-2 The Court instruct the jury that the deliberate design as mentioned in these instructs does not have to exist in the mind of the slayer for any given length of time; and if only moments before the act of violence, if any, the defendant, Mary Cooper, acted with deliberate design to take the life of Derrick Edwards, then it was truly malice and the act was as truly murder as if the deliberate design had existed in the mind of the defendant for minutes, hours, days, weeks or even years. [R. 147; RE 15]

S-3 The Court instructs the Jury that if you find the State has failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt any one of the elements of the crime of Murder, you must find the defendant Mary Cooper, not guilty of Murder, and you will then proceed with your deliberations to decide whether the State has proved the elements of the lesser crime of Manslaughter.

The Court instructs the jury that the killing of a human being by culpable negligence and without authority of law is manslaughter. If you find from the evidence in this case beyond a reasonable doubt:

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