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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Cooper was not entitled to a heat of passion manslaughter instruction. The argument that transpired between she and Hudson would not constitute adequate provocation even if she had killed Hudson. There is no basis in Mississippi law to support her proposition that the argument between she and Hudson could somehow mitigate her act of shooting and killing Edwards from murder to manslaughter. Furthermoré, heat of passion manslaughter was not part of the defense theory. Cooper testified that she had no involvement in the killing. Defense counsel, during opening and closing statements, asked the jury to believe that Hudson was the murderer and that everyone involved in the case was part of a conspiracy against Cooper. Finally, even if it could be said that Cooper's theory of the case hinged on heat of passion manslaughter, the trial court properly rejected the proposed instruction because it incorrectly stated the law, was without foundation in the evidence, and was fairly covered elsewhere. When read as a whole, the jury instructions correctly stated the law and effectuated no injustice.

The murder and manslaughter instructions correctly stated the law and were not confusing to the jury. The murder instruction tracked the language of the murder statute, and the manslaughter instruction utilized language approved by the supreme court. There was nothing inherently confusing about these instructions.

The jury's verdict was supported by legally sufficient evidence, which included testimony from two witnesses who saw Cooper shoot and kill Edwards.

Cooper's argument regarding the testimony of Officer Greg Clark is procedurally barred, as defense counsel raised no contemporaneous objection during his testimony.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. COOPER WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A HEAT OF PASSION MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION.

"In reviewing jury instruction issues, this Court reads the instructions together as a whole. No reversible error will be found to exist if, when read together, the instructions correctly state the law and effectuate no injustice." McKlemurry v. State, 947 So.2d 987, 990 (¶3) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting Miller v. State, 919 So.2d 1137, 1141(¶ 12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)).

Cooper believes that she was entitled to a heat of passion manslaughter instruction based on an altercation that allegedly occurred between she and Hudson prior to her shooting and killing Edwards. Although a defendant is entitled to have jury instructions which present his theory of the case, a trial court properly refuses jury instructions which are fairly covered elsewhere, are without foundation in the evidence, or incorrectly state the law. Livingston v. State, 943 So.2d 66, 71 (¶14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Although Cooper requested a heat of passion manslaughter instruction, it was certainly not her theory of the case. Defense counsel's opening and closing arguments focused on an "it wasn't me" defense, claiming that Hudson robbed and killed Edwards, and that everyone involved in the case was part of a conspiracy against Cooper. T. 62, 63, 243, 243-47. Defense counsel argued that Cooper did not witness, much less participate in the killing. T. 245-47. Cooper also testified in her own defense that she did not participate in nor witness Edwards' murder, and that Hudson had not argued with her nor provoked her in any manner on the day of the murder. T. 203, 204, 205, 206, 208, 209, 215. Therefore, it would be disingenuous at best for Cooper to now assert that she was entitled to a heat of passion manslaughter instruction because it was her theory of the case. Even if by some stretch of the imagination one could say that this was her theory of the case, the instruction was properly denied as it incorrectly stated the law, was without foundation in the evidence, and was fairly covered elsewhere.

#### Incorrect statement of law

Cooper admits in her appellate brief that she was unable to locate a Mississippi case which stands for the proposition that a defendant's alleged altercation with one person prior to the defendant shooting and killing another person could be considered heat of passion manslaughter through the theory of transferred intent. Appellant's brief at 8. The reason is clear. Mississippi does not and should not recognize the theory of transferred intent in the context of heat of passion manslaughter. As such, the trial court certainly cannot be held in error for refusing an instruction which has absolutely no basis in Mississippi law.

Dobbins v. State, 766 So. 2d 29 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) is analogous to the case *sub judice*. In Dobbins, the defendant and an individual named Coleman began arguing outside a nightclub after each had displayed opposing gang signs. Id at 31 (¶2). During the argument, Dobbins threatened to "blow [Coleman's] brains out." Id. However, the two never engaged in a physical altercation. Shortly thereafter, two other men began shoving Dobbins. Id. at (¶3). Dobbins then fired a handgun, and an errant bullet struck and killed an individual who had no involvement in the altercation. Id. Dobbins was subsequently tried and convicted of murder. On appeal, Dobbins argued that he was entitled to a heat of passion manslaughter instruction, although the adequate provocation, if any, was not caused by the victim. Id. at 33 (¶11) The Court disposed of the issue by finding that Dobbins' intent to kill was obvious from his threat to blow Coleman's brains out, and that intent transferred to the victim. Id. at (¶12). In so holding, the Court implicitly found that Dobbins' contention that the subsequent physical altercation initiated by two other individuals which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A Westlaw search using the search terms "transferred intent" & (homicide murder manslaughter) yields fourteen Mississippi cases, none of which support Cooper's proposition.

resulted in Dobbins shooting an unintended victim could not serve as the basis for a heat of passion manslaughter instruction.

In addition to there being no controlling legal authority to support Cooper's proposition, the idea that transferred intent is somehow applicable to heat of passion manslaughter situations lacks legal and common sense. "The chief distinction between murder and manslaughter is the presence of deliberation and malice in murder and its absence in manslaughter." **Moody v. State**, 841 So.2d 1067, 1096 (¶ 96) (Miss. 2003) (quoting **Carter v. State**, 199 Miss. 871, 879, 25 So.2d 470, 473 (1946)). Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-35 clearly states that a heat of passion killing is committed without malice. In the context of criminal homicide, the term malice is synonymous with deliberate design, premeditation, and intent to kill. **Carter v. State**, 845 So.2d 748, 750 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (citing **Hawthorne v. State**, 835 So.2d 14, 19-20 (¶¶ 21-22) (Miss.2003)). Because heat of passion manslaughter is committed without malice or an intent to kill, the theory of transferred intent simply cannot apply because there is no intent which can be transferred.

#### No foundation in the evidence

Should the Court find that the theory transferred intent is compatible with heat of passion manslaughter, the State would also argue there was no foundation in the evidence for such an instruction. Cooper denied having any involvement in the shooting, claiming that she was in her bedroom when she heard the shots being fired outside. T. 203, 206, 208, 209. This honorable Court has previously held that a heat of passion manslaughter instruction is not warranted where the defendant denies killing the victim. **Turner v. State**, 773 So.2d 952, 953-54 (¶¶5-8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). The **Turner** Court further stated that although there was evidence that the victim had pushed Turner over a table, that fact did not "support a finding of 'violent and uncontrollable rage' absent some testimony from someone that rage appeared to exist." **Id**. at (¶8).

"[A] necessary component of 'heat of passion' is 'a state of violent and uncontrollable rage." Thomas v. State, 818 So.2d 335, 350 (¶55) (Miss. 2002). The record is simply devoid of any evidence that Cooper was in a state of violent and uncontrollable rage. In fact, Cooper maintained throughout her testimony that she and Hudson had not even argued on the day in question. T. 204, 205, 215. It is true that Speight, Hudson, and Hardy testified that Cooper and Hudson had argued about a cell phone. T. 68, 117, 149. However, "mere words, no matter how provocative," do not constitute the adequate provocation required for heat of passion manslaughter.

McClendon v. State, 748 So.2d 814, 818 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (citing Gates v. State, 484 So.2d 1002, 1005 (Miss. 1986)). Hudson did also testify that at the conclusion of the argument, he pushed Cooper. T. 117. According to Turner, this would not constitute adequate provocation.

#### Fairly covered elsewhere

Although Cooper was not entitled to a heat of passion manslaughter instruction, the jury did receive a culpable negligence manslaughter instruction. As such, the jury was given the option of convicting Cooper of something less than murder. Accordingly, the refused manslaughter instruction was fairly covered elsewhere.

The jury instructions read as a whole correctly stated the law and effectuated no injustice.

Accordingly, Cooper's first argument must fail.

# II. THE CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE MANSLAUGHTER AND DEPRAVED HEART MURDER INSTRUCTIONS CORRECTLY STATED THE LAW AND WERE NOT CONFUSING TO THE JURY.

Instruction S-3, a culpable negligence manslaughter instruction, was granted without objection by defense counsel. T. 229, C.P. 148. Therefore, Cooper is procedurally barred from arguing any alleged errors regarding the culpable negligence manslaughter instruction. **Gross v.** State, 948 So.2d 439, 444 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Without abandoning the State's argument that

Cooper's second issue is procedurally barred, the State will also briefly address its lack of merit.

Cooper claims that instructions S-1 and S-3 incorrectly state the law. Instruction S-1, the deliberate design and depraved heart murder instruction, tracks the statutory language of Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-19. "[T]his Court has 'consistently held that instructions in a criminal case which follow the language of a pertinent statute are sufficient." Rubenstein v. State, 941 So.2d 735, 772 (¶155) (Miss. 2006) (quoting Byrom v. State, 863 So.2d 836, 880 (Miss. 2003)). As such, instruction S-1 correctly stated the law.

Cooper also argues that the jury was confused by instructions S-1 and S-3, claiming that there is no distinguishable difference between depraved heart murder and culpable negligence manslaughter. Our reviewing courts have repeatedly held that the two crimes are distinguishable by the degree of mental culpability, the determination of which is an issue properly resolved by the jury. Shumpert v. State, 935 So.2d 962, 967 (¶14) (Miss. 2006) "In short, depraved-heart murder involves a higher degree of recklessness from which malice or deliberate design may be implied." Windham v. State, 602 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss.1992). This honorable Court has approved of the State's routine submission of a murder instruction along with an instruction for manslaughter as a lesser-included offense, and further stated that there is nothing inherently confusing about such submissions. Lett v. State, 902 So.2d 630, 637-38 (¶25) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

Finally, Cooper contends that jury instruction S-3 improperly utilized the phrase "tantamount to willfulness." The supreme court recently defined culpable negligence manslaughter as follows,

Thus, culpable negligence is defined as 'the conscious and wanton or reckless disregard of the probabilities of fatal consequences to others as a result of the wilful creation of an unreasonable risk thereof.' This Court more recently defined manslaughter by culpable negligence as 'such gross negligence ... as to evince a wanton or reckless disregard for the safety of human life, or such an indifference to the consequences of an act under the surrounding circumstances as to render such conduct tantamount to willfulness.'

Chandler v. State, 946 So.2d 355, 361 (¶22) (Miss. 2006) (quoting Evans v. State, 562 So.2d 91, 94 (Miss. 1990); Shumpert v. State, 935 So.2d 962, 967 (Miss. 2006)). Instruction S-3 utilized almost verbatim the culpable negligence manslaughter definition approved by the supreme court in Chandler.

The Appellant's second issue is both procedurally barred and without merit.

#### III. THE JURY'S VERDICT IS SUPPORTED BY LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE.

In reviewing issues of legal sufficiency, the reviewing court does not "ask itself whether it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." **Bush v. State**, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (¶16) (Miss. 2005) (quoting **Jackson v. Virginia**, 443 U.S. 307, 315 (1979)). Rather, the Court will view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and determine whether any rational juror could have found that the State proved each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. **Id**.

Cooper was indicted for deliberate design murder. C.P. 4. The jury, which was instructed on both deliberate design and depraved heart murder, returned a verdict of guilty of murder. C.P. 146, 161. The following evidence supports the jury's verdict. Speight testified that after he, Edwards, and Hudson entered the Explorer to leave Cooper's property, he heard at least four gunshots. T. 70. He turned and saw Cooper aiming at the Explorer from the front door of her mobile home and firing shots. T. 70,72. One of the bullets struck Edwards in the head. T. 119. Hardy also testified that she saw her aunt shoot Edwards from the front door of her mobile home. T. 151. Hardy further testified that she complied with her aunt's request to take and hide the murder weapon. T. 152-53. Hardy's mother and father corroborated this account, and Hardy's father eventually turned the gun over to authorities. T. 159, 163. From this evidence, a reasonable juror

could have found Cooper guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of Edwards' murder, either of the deliberate design or depraved heart variety.

Additionally, the classic example of depraved heart murder is one shooting into crowd. Lett v. State, 902 So.2d 630, 637 (¶21) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). This paradigm has been extended to one shooting into a hotel room occupied by several people. Id. The State submits that shooting into a vehicle which the shooter knows is occupied by several people also satisfies the classic depraved heart murder example.

Cooper's legal sufficiency argument is without merit.

# IV. COOPER'S ARGUMENT REGARDING OFFICER CLARK'S TESTIMONY IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Greg Clark, a Louisville Police Department Investigator, was dispatched to investigate the crime scene. At trial he testified that he attempted to determine from which direction the bullets were fired. T. 97. In describing this process, Clark testified that he measured the distance from the Explorer to front door of the mobile home, and then pointed a laser from the bullet hole in the Explorer toward the center of the front door of the mobile home. T. 97-98. No objection was made during this testimony. Photographs which depicted this process were also entered into evidence without objection. T. 98. Cooper now argues that Clark presented expert testimony without being tendered as an expert. However, defense counsel's failure to make a contemporaneous objection serves as a procedural bar to Cooper's attempt raise this issue on appeal. **Dixon v. State**, 953 So.2d 1108, 1116 (¶21-22) (Miss. 2007).

In addition to Cooper's claim being procedurally barred, it also lacks merit. It does not take an expert to use a tape measure or point a laser beam, nor to testify about doing so. Furthermore, even if the admission of Clark's testimony could somehow be found erroneous, a harmless error analysis applies due to the overwhelming evidence of guilt, including the testimony of two eyewitnesses to the murder.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Cooper's conviction and sentence.